The Senate

Employment, Workplace Relations and Education Legislation Committee

Provisions of the Higher Education Support Amendment (Abolition of Compulsory Up-front Union Fees) Bill 2005



Membership of the Committee

Members

Senator Judith Troeth LP, Victoria Chair

Senator Gavin Marshall ALP, Victoria Deputy Chair

Senator David Johnston LP, Western Australia

Senator Guy Barnett * LP, Tasmania

Senator George Campbell ALP, New South Wales

Senator Natasha Stott Despoja AD, South Australia

Substitute Member:

* Senator Mitch Fifield LP, Victoria

substituting for Senator Barnett

Secretariat

Senate Employment, Workplace Relations and Education

Legislation Committee Secretariat

Suite SG. 52 The Senate

Parliament House

Canberra ACT 2600 Phone: 02 6277 3520 Fax: 02 6277 5706

E-mail: eet.sen@aph.gov.au

Internet: www.aph.gov.au/senate_employment

Table of Contents

Membership of the Committee	iii
Chapter 1	1
Majority Report	1
The bill and its referral to the committee	1
Student organisations affected by the legislation	2
Freedom of association in a university context	2
The capacity of students to determine their own needs	3
False analogies with taxation and government services	5
Opting out of union membership	5
Political use of funds	6
A note on rural universities	7
Likely effects of VSU on clubs and sport	8
The changing attitude to higher education	9
A challenge to student leadership	10
The responsibilities of universities	11
Conclusion	12
Chapter 2	15
Opposition senators' report	15
Freedom of association	15
Likely effects of the bill	18
The special case of university sport	20
Postgraduate students	22
Effect on universities	22
The wider community interest.	24
Experience with VSU in Western Australia and Victoria	25
Private enterprise on campus	28

Advocacy and representational roles of student organisations threatened	29
Universities as service providers	31
Penalty clauses	32
Conclusion	32
Appendix 1	35
List of submissions	35
Appendix 2	45
Hearings and witnesses	45
Appendix 3	49
Tabled documents	49
Appendix 4	51
Answers to questions on notice and additional information	51

Chapter 1

Majority Report

- 1.1 On three occasions, in 1999, 2001 and 2005, the Government has introduced legislation to end the practice of universities charging commencement fees for compulsory membership of student unions, guilds or other representative or service organisations whose purposes and activities are of a non-academic nature. In this third attempt the Government has not proposed any variations or concessions. Government sources have described the policy underpinning the legislation as 'totemic', and the changed composition of the Senate provides some promise that it will be passed.
- 1.2 At the core of the policy is a determination to uphold the right of self determination. In this context, that means that students should not be obliged to pay for services which they will not choose to use, nor join organisations which are unlikely to represent their interests. This does not mean that students who forgo membership of student organisations are passive, or indifferent to the possibilities open for a full and interesting campus life. Rather, it allows a student to engage in normal student life, selecting the services desired, and the extra-curricular attractions on offer, and paying for them accordingly. The committee heard a great deal of speculation about the imminent collapse of undergraduate life as it has been known for generations, as a result of what is proposed in this bill. There is a much stronger case to be made that the measure will have the opposite effect. That case is made in this report.

The bill and its referral to the committee

- 1.3 The bill amends the *Higher Education Support Act 2003* with the insertion of section 19-37 in regard to quality and accountability requirements. In essence, this new section prohibits 'higher education providers' from requiring students to be members of student organisations that are not of an academic nature. This is the main operative section. Other amendments, as in new section 33-37, provide for penalties to be imposed on universities which are in breach of section 19-37.
- 1.4 The Higher Education Support Amendment (Abolition of Compulsory Upfront Student Union Fees) Bill 2005 was introduced into the House of Representatives on 16 March 2005, and the provisions of the legislation were referred to the committee on 11 May through the Selection of Bills Committee. The inquiry was advertised and over 190 submissions were received, mostly from student organisations. A list of submissions may be found in Appendix 1.
- 1.5 The committee held public hearings in Melbourne, Armidale, Perth and Canberra. Witnesses appearing at these hearings are listed in Appendix 2.
- 1.6 It should be noted that this bill is often still known as the 'VSU' bill, and that this inquiry is often cited as the 'VSU' inquiry. VSU, standing for 'Voluntary Student

Unionism', was the name given to the short title of the bill introduced in 1999. The original bill attracted such a great deal of attention (and over 400 submissions to this committee's first inquiry) that the use of these initials has been popularly retained to refer to re-titled versions of the legislation.

Student organisations affected by the legislation

- 1.7 As can be noted from a study of the submissions, the terms 'union', 'association' and 'guild' have different meanings, depending on the model of student services and representation in each university. Some witnesses before the committee indicated their dislike of such terminology as 'union' because of connotations suggested by that word. The committee here provides a rough guide to the way in which these terms are used, which is as follows.
- 1.8 In general, the term 'union' usually refers to a student services organisation, which, although run by a student elected board, is professionally managed, usually by a chief executive officer who is a member of the Australian Campus Union Managers Association (ACUMA). They are the evolved successors to traditional university debating clubs and fraternities of some older universities, and provide cafeterias, reading and recreation services, and they commonly license or contract services through commercial and retail outlets.
- 1.9 Student associations, including bodies commonly known as SRCs (for Student Representative Council), are the organisations most frequently associated with university political activity. Their main function, however, is to represent students in dealings with university administrators. Their representatives sit on governing boards and senates, and participate in a range of university governance bodies and committees. Student associations are the bodies which maintain student legal advice services to help students with academic appeals, as well as on matters which extend beyond disputes which students may have with the university about course progress and examination results. Most of these associations are affiliated with the National Union of Students (NUS), which is a political lobby group with offices in the Melbourne Trades Hall. Some student associations, however, also run services which in many other universities are run by unions, including student counselling services.
- 1.10 Finally, 'guilds' are bodies, found mainly in Western Australia and Queensland, which combine the functions of unions and student associations. They may be characteristic of newer and smaller universities, although UWA, nearly a century old, has a guild structure. Some organisations, including that at RMIT, follow a guild structure but call themselves unions.

Freedom of association in a university context

1.11 Freedom of association is a principle which the Coalition Government has endeavoured to extend to all aspects of life in Australia, and there is no reason this should not apply to campus life.

- 1.12 The committee majority was concerned at the extent to which freedom of association was viewed by university administrators and student organisations as a technicality to be satisfied rather than a principle to be embraced. This view was evidenced by the number of universities which claimed that the principle of freedom of association was being honoured in allowing students to opt out of union membership, but still required the payment of a student fee.
- 1.13 There has been comment made during the committee's hearings, that the Government's motive in introducing this legislation has been 'political': that is, to weaken the influence of student bodies dominated by left-leaning *apparatchiks* who, it is sometimes claimed, are responsible for the misuse of student funds and the commitment of student union support for particular causes through the National Union of Students
- 1.14 The Government denies any preoccupation with the complexion of student political opinion. This is subject to the normal corrective of annual student elections.
- 1.15 The committee majority notes that the legislation is criticised on the basis that it is 'ideological'. Most substantial legislation is in some way 'ideological', even bills which are agreed to on both sides. If the question is asked on what basis this legislation is introduced, Government party senators agree that there is a basis of 'ideology' by way of a commitment to freedom of association. This concern arises from a view of life which values the fullest expression of individual rights within community structures, consistent with regard for the rights of others. It is a view which attempts to achieve a balance between respect for social and community obligations on the one hand, and the right of individuals living within communities to make choices which suit their ideas and way of life.
- 1.16 As Government party senators on the committee view matters, this legislation rests on optimism that students will rise to the challenge of running their traditional organisations on a voluntary basis, rather than on any kind of restriction. In ideological terms, this legislation may be regarded as 'liberal', in that it places value on choice and opportunity. As Minister Nelson noted in his second reading speech on the bill, many voluntary organisations and co-operatives thrive on the basis of mutual support for agreed objectives. For instance, sporting clubs are run on this basis across the country. The committee majority makes the point that students are now assumed to approve of an obligatory payment to subsidise all student services, whereas they should be accorded the same rights as their peers in the workforce: that of choosing the interests and recreations they wish to pursue, inside and outside of the university.

The capacity of students to determine their own needs

1.17 It follows from the arguments presented in this majority report so far that Government party senators have a more optimistic faith in the ability of students to

Hon Brendan Nelson MP, *Hansard* (House of Representatives), 16 March 2005, pp.3-5

determine their own needs than do Opposition senators and vice chancellors. It was clear from the vice chancellors who gave evidence that university administrators in general doubt the capacity of students to determine what services they may need and what services are of value to them. Government party senators view interpretations of student opinion by vice chancellors with considerable scepticism, mainly because the student population is now so diverse and because university commitments and experience is only one facet of the lives of a majority of students.

- 1.18 It is understandable that vice chancellors will see the work and the life of students differently. Government senators respect their view, while pointing out that for an increasing proportion of students such attitudes may appear to be paternalistic in the absence of choice about obligations placed on them which are not always relevant to their studies.
- 1.19 Professor Chubb, Vice Chancellor of the Australian National University, said later at the hearing that he thought it ought to be left to the university to decide what services it provides.

I would say that it ought to be left to the university to decide what services it provides and, if we choose to charge a fee to provide a range of services, why should we be prohibited from doing that?²

1.20 Professor Chubb rejected any suggestion of paternalism, but there was a clear indication in his comments that the university knew best what was in the interests of students. So did the Vice Chancellor of Swinburne University of Technology, Professor Ian Young, who stated in his evidence that students lack the maturity to decide what services are of value to them:

This is a rather condescending comment, I am afraid, but when you have a group of 18- to 22-year-olds the reality is that their focus is very short term. They are interested in the here and now.³

1.21 His views are echoed by Professor Peter Coaldrake, the Vice Chancellor of the Queensland University of Technology, who told the committee:

Students are going to at any particular point individually rate the service they need by their need at that particular time. They are not going to take a holistic view of what they might need or anticipate they need in the next two or three years such as whether or not they are going to have challenges with assessment, going to be sick or whatever it happens to be. So I am not sure that students at any particular point, particularly early on in their studies, are likely to make-I hesitate to use the term-'rational' choices in that respect.⁴

² Professor Ian Chubb, *Committee Hansard*, Canberra, 7 July 2005, p.5

³ Professor Ian Young, Committee Hansard, Melbourne, 4 July 2005, p.15

⁴ Professor Peter Coaldrake, *Committee Hansard*, Canberra, 7 July 2005, p.23

1.22 The committee majority strongly rejects the view that universities know better than students how their own funds should be spent, as it also rejects the notion that students lack the maturity to make these decisions. The view of the Government is that the community knows better what it needs. That is why at every opportunity taxes are cut to put more money in the hands of families and individuals.

False analogies with taxation and government services

- 1.23 Some witnesses and submissions compared compulsory fees upon enrolment, even though not connected to their academic studies, as the cost of belonging to a community, akin to rates or taxes levied by governments. The committee majority wholly rejects this view for a number of reasons.
- 1.24 The first is that it reflects a poor appreciation of the value of existing local, state and federal government services generally available to students. The major items of Commonwealth, state and local government spending cover defence, income support payments for those unable to provide for themselves, healthcare, family payments, police and legal systems, aged care and emergency care. Such services are necessary foundations of our society and are provided for students and non-students alike. It is a nonsense to defend student union subsidies for cafes, financial loans and legal officers as 'public goods'. They are not equivalent to police or garbage collection services.
- 1.25 Second, it is a gross overstatement of the necessity of those fees for the operation of a university campus. Governments do not provide broad-based permanent subsidies for social events, cafes, bookstores and sporting club memberships. Governments already provide funding for childcare and employment services. There is no need for an additional 'tax' levied solely on students to provide additional subsidies within the boundaries of the university.
- 1.26 Finally, it ignores differing capacity to pay. Not only are the same fees paid regardless of the value of service to the student, the fees are paid regardless of the income or other circumstances of the student. This compulsory fee is akin to a poll tax, which has no equivalent in the way that governments at any level levy taxes and rates. Members of the community can choose to pay for non-government services. Students should have the same choice without forfeiting their course enrolment.

Opting out of union membership

1.27 Government senators are concerned that a number of universities offer only a 'technical' opt out of union membership. This allows students to opt out of union membership, but still required them to pay the same fee as though they had joined. The rationale offered for charging the same fee was that the cost of union membership is zero. The fees paid, in most cases, still go towards union services. Given the lack of a fee differential it is not surprising that most students do not choose to opt out. The claim that most students support the union because so few opt out is disingenuous. The situation is acknowledged by the unions themselves, for instance, the president of

the ANU students association, conceded that the student fee still goes to pay for union activity. The following exchange in recent Canberra hearings is revealing:

"Ms Rao (ANUSA)... The fact that students are allowed to opt out of this membership is our solution to that so that we do not force people to take on views or to be represented in a way that they might not wish to be.

Senator Fifield—But you will take their money and use their money to represent views.

Ms Rao—Because the university collects it and gives it to us, yes."

- 1.28 Arrangements such as these are similar across the country. In Victoria an optout provision is written into state legislation, as is the requirement that all students pay an amenities fee. There is similar legislation in force in Western Australia.
- 1.29 The problem with current arrangements is that conscientious objectors to union or guild membership are placed at a double disadvantage. As one submission noted, the compulsory levy on a student who opts out of membership is equal to the union membership fee, making it a net loss. Such students lose what few benefits the guild gives them, but the fee must still be paid.⁵

Political use of funds

- 1.30 Under a compulsory fee regime it is almost impossible to prevent student funds being used for political activities without student approval. In 2004 in the lead up to the federal election, from 31 August to 9 October, the National Union of Students (NUS) spent \$250,000 on political campaigns: one campaigning for students to 'Enrol to vote' and the other to 'Put the Liberals last'. This money comes from the compulsory amenities and services fees paid by students and provided to the NUS by way of levies on affiliated student unions.
- 1.31 When questioned about this, the president of the NUS, Mr Felix Eldridge, said that he was 'sure' that the affiliate members would not want the NUS to make donations to a political party and that in any case the NUS is forbidden from doing so by its constitution. Nevertheless he defended the decision to run a partisan advertising campaign, as the following exchange shows:

Senator Fifield—This is a return to the Australian Electoral Commission from the National Union of Students Inc. for the period 31 August 2004 to 9 October 2004. Mr Eldridge, is this the 'put the Liberals last' campaign expenditure?

Mr Eldridge—Part of it is, yes. Part of it is our 'enrol to vote' campaign, and I would imagine part of it is the 'put the Liberals last' campaign.

Senator Fifield—So it is a campaign all up of some \$250,000. You said earlier that you thought your affiliate members would be upset if the National Union of Students donated to a political party.

⁵ Mr Al Borowski, Submission 191

Mr Eldridge—Yes, I am sure they would be.

Senator Fifield—You do not think that they would be upset that \$250,000 of—is this money from affiliation fees?

Mr Eldridge—Yes.

Senator Fifield—Money which is provided by affiliated student body members of your organisation?

Mr Eldridge—Yes.

Senator Fifield—Money which they would get from amenities and services fees or other fees?

Mr Eldridge—If their campus had held a referendum and students had decided to join the National Union of Students, then yes.

1.32 The committee majority strongly objects to the collection of compulsory 'amenities and services' fees from students, as a condition of enrolment, being used for partisan political campaigns. It highlights the flaws in the compulsory system and in the existing 'opt out' provision of the Victorian legislation: the NUS was using funds compulsorily acquired from students, many of whom would not have approved of the campaign. The committee majority believes that students should be given the option of whether and how their money is used in partisan political campaigns. This right is best expressed through the ability of students to pay or not pay as they see fit.

A note on rural universities

- 1.33 There appears to be a general view that universities in non-metropolitan areas are more vulnerable to the effects of VSU than are universities in the city. The committee majority believes this view to be based on unfounded assumptions. Despite repeated questioning of witnesses, there was no substantive evidence to support the repeated claim that regional campuses would be affected in a way materially different to metropolitan campuses.
- 1.34 For instance, a typical exchange occurred in Canberra with Mr Stephen Horton (President, Council of Australian postgraduate Associations) who asserted that regional campuses such as James Cook University would be particularly affected by the legislation. However, he was unable to provide any instances of how this would occur:

CHAIR (Senator Troeth)—For instance, we were interested to know the number of medical practitioners in Armidale who were available in the town to service a reasonable regional population of 22,000 in the town itself, let alone the hinterland. Given that the university was not an unmanageable distance from the town with a regular amount of transport running we were interested to know the ratio of doctors to students and the general town population and yet we have not been able to find those figures anywhere. We would have thought, given the supposed strength of this argument that is being mounted, that we would have obtained some evidence to bolster it. So that is an example of what we were talking about.

Mr Horton—I would not have figures for this, but how many people would be able to take on the roles that student welfare and academic support staff perform at regional campuses in particular? There are sociologists, psychologists and a variety of other professionals as well who work in these organisations. I would question how many people work freelance outside the university who could specialise in the specific needs of students, particularly international students—a very specialised area of work. Considering the money that international students are paying, they are likely to demand assistance when they need it. International students are encouraged to go to regional centres. The change in the DIMIA points for permanent residency gives more points to students who attend a regional university. Are we going to send people to regional universities and say to them, 'You will get very little support. Find your own way'? I think that is a recipe for disaster.

CHAIR (Senator Troeth)—I think the point that Senator Fifield is making is that as yet we have been given no concrete evidence.⁶

- 1.35 The unfounded assumptions of rural disadvantage are that metropolitan students are unlikely to be attracted to the country. The answer to that is that it depends on the quality of the academic program and its preparation for a career.
- 1.36 Some witnesses and submissions noted that facilities at regional universities are used by local residents and integrated with local life. These facilities should not be sustained solely by student contributions. Local authorities must make some contribution towards maintaining these facilities instead of depending on the fees paid by students, many of whom will only live in the district for a short time.

Likely effects of VSU on clubs and sport

- 1.37 Sport and recreation is an adjunct to a university education. It is far from being 'core business', and indeed, a majority of students enrolled in university courses around the country would seldom if ever use the facilities provided by the sports unions. University sport is a good example of an activity which benefits a relative few at the expense of all students who pay to enter university. Whatever justification can be made for continued subsidy of services like counselling and advocacy could never be extended to include sport, because of its distinctiveness as an extra-curricular activity.
- 1.38 The committee heard sports union operatives at some length at its Armidale hearings. University sports unions across the country collect about \$40 million in student fees. Australian University Sport claimed, on the basis of Western Australian experience that this would be reduced to about \$8 million. The committee majority believes this to be a realistic estimate, reflecting the real level of interest and participation in university sport. But the committee majority rejects the pessimistic belief, promoted by the sports unions, that organised university sport across Australia

⁶ Mr Stephen Horton, *Committee Hansard*, Canberra, 7 July 2005, p.39

will die if VSU is introduced, or that it will have a significant effect on sports organisations, support and achievement levels on sports competitions generally.

- 1.39 If we take Monash University as an example, with each student paying \$428 as a compulsory up-front services and amenities fee, over half of this goes to unspecified administration costs and only 5.4 per cent of the total goes towards sport. If students need sport, they are not getting value for money from the amenities fee.
- 1.40 Any decision about the future of university sport will need to be made by the universities themselves. University sport to date, relying on compulsory student fees, has been largely left alone by university administrations. Sports and recreation facilities should now be looked at in light of what universities can offer as a total package of services, particularly to attract foreign fee-paying students. If a university decided that sport should be a core university function for reasons which have to do with its profile or brand, and because it wishes to distinguish itself from other institutions, the sports facilities should be funded by that university out of its revenue. If sports unions take advantage of the generally good infrastructure and equipment that has come as a result of compulsory fees to date, they should, with some imaginative entrepreneurial management, and with corporate sponsorship, increase activity rates and pay for the maintenance that such facilities require. In the case of regional campuses, sporting facilities need to be looked at on a community basis with local government, university and local sporting clubs working together.
- 1.41 Most university clubs and societies have low overheads, and many use public facilities for which members are charged at similar rates to non-students. A university ski club would be an instance of such a body, with membership advantage coming from social interaction, the guidance and skills transfer from more experienced members, and the organisational skills which are similarly passed along. Membership of clubs and societies arises from shared interest, and the loss of a subsidy for running expenses should have no effect on the membership if there is sufficient interest in the activity.

The changing attitude to higher education

- 1.42 The legislation before the Senate reflects changing attitudes to university education and the circumstances in which a high proportion of students undertake their studies. There has been a marked change in nearly all aspects of higher education since the 1960s when the sector began a rapid expansion to cope with the first wave of the 'baby boom' generation. The political activity in universities in the 1960s and 1970s, often reflected on with the nostalgia of middle age, had more to do with the growing pains of universities, the demography of those times, and the prevalence of scholarships, than with national and world events at the time.
- 1.43 In contrast, universities at the beginning of the 21st century operate in circumstances of relatively low enrolment growth potential, at least domestic enrolments. Mature aged students make up a much higher proportion of full-time students, and part-time students have increased as a proportion of all students. There

has been a massive increase in the proportion of external students, to the point where in some universities they outnumber regular full-time students. Undergraduate students are reportedly older than they were a generation ago, with about 40 per cent of all students being over 25 years of age. Indeed, it is harder to define what a 'regular' university student may now be. While their parents' generation often enjoyed a large measure of financial support through scholarships to support themselves, students today face the need to provide for themselves to a far greater extent. The perception of the 'quiet campus' over the past decade or more is grounded in the reality of a student body having far less time to engage in traditional undergraduate activities. Balancing study with part-time employment has created a more 'worldly' outlook among students. Such changes as these have had an influence on the policy which underpins this legislation. The bill as drafted recognises that students should be obliged only to pay for services and activities which they require or desire.

A challenge to student leadership

1.44 The committee majority notes that much of the evidence presented by student associations and unions, and by university administrations was remarkably pessimistic in its forecast of the effects of voluntary student unionism. It has been the historical experience of reforming legislators that upholders of the *status quo* will forecast, often with statistical 'verification' the dire consequences which must inevitably follow a particular change. There is a correspondingly low estimation of the likelihood that new arrangements will work well and result in improvements that might not be anticipated. The committee majority takes the view that people will always emerge to create new opportunities and make the new ways work. The views expressed in most of the submissions on this bill underestimate the capacity, the resilience and the initiative which student bodies and many individual student leaders are likely to demonstrate in order to re-establish their service and representative institutions on a firmer and higher threshold of active popular support.

1.45 The fundamental challenge to be addressed by student organisations is that of maintaining broad student support. This will require a very different approach to student leadership than has usually been exhibited up till now. Hitherto, the student association structures, underpinned by assured income to maintain infrastructure and services, have provided an easy revenue stream. The new dispensation will require the exercise of leadership skills of a different kind. These will include entrepreneurial skills and public relations skills. In some cases we may see the emergence of individuals who may have shown no interest in student affairs under compulsory unionism. It is more than likely that a large proportion of currently active students will continue their involvement in either representative or service providing functions, and will quickly learn to adjust to these new circumstances. The committee majority does not see this legislation as being 'anti-student' or even 'anti-radical student'. Voluntary student unionism both maintains and extends the opportunities and challenges for student self-management. 'Radicalism' may be a characteristic of student leadership

⁷ Professor Glyn Davis, reported in the *Australian*, 20 July 2005, p.38

most in demand for the purpose of re-casting student representation structures in order to win active support from the student body.

- 1.46 It was a matter of concern to the committee majority that with a few exceptions, such as the Melbourne University Student Union, student organisations had failed to examine the possibility of bundling together different services at different price points, as do other member services organisations, such as motoring organisations. It is unfortunate that more time has not been given over to future planning in the event of this legislation eventually passing both houses of the Parliament. There has been at least five years notice given.
- 1.47 It is clear that if student organisations operating under the proposed legisation continue to offer the current membership and service models, then their organisations will fail. Failure of student organisations under the proposed VSU legislation will not necessarily be the product of the legislation but could be as a result of:
 - poor administration;
 - failure to effectively market their services;
 - failure to respond to student demand; or
 - failure to adapt membership models to a voluntary environment.
- 1.48 While it is clear that some organisations will not adequately plan for the new environment and then blame organisational failure on the legislation, there are some signs of progress and improvement, indicative of a culture change that will need to follow the abolition of VSU. The committee heard evidence from the President of the Monash University Caulfield campus union in relation to new commercial ventures which have increased revenues for the union across all the Monash campuses, returning the profits to student services. The initiative to establish the student controlled commercial venture known as Monyx came from the university administration, but it is significant that it was taken up with enthusiasm by Monash students.⁸

The responsibilities of universities

1.49 There is a lesson for university administrators here. As well as accepting more responsibility for funding what they claim are core areas of university services, currently left to be run by student unions, universities will need to consider whether the current structures for student associations are suitable for the post-VSU era. It may be that the guild structure is more suited to meeting the needs of students than separate bodies providing amenities and representation. A degree of cross-subsidy will be needed to ensure that essential services are maintained, and this can be achieved only if fee-for-service amenities are run with a high level of efficiency and *panache*. The committee majority believes it is the responsibility of university administrators to initiate moves to improve the way student organisations can respond better to student needs.

⁸ Mr Michael Josem, Submission 45, p.1

1.50 Universities have also a responsibility to ensure that they do not pass on to student organisations the responsibility of organising or conducting services which are clearly related to the academic program of the university. While the committee majority does not claim that this practice is common, it was disturbing to note in the submission from the Australian Law Students' Association (ALSA) some evidence which suggests that the law students' bodies in some universities may be doing more than organising law balls and other social activities.

Due to time and financial constraints under which Law Faculties currently operate, Law Student Societies are relied upon to provide practical education experiences through organising and administering mooting, trial advocacy, negotiation and client interview competitions, the running of community legal centres and the provision of tutorials. With a decrease in funding Law Student Societies will no-longer be able to provide this broad range of educational opportunities to students. Universities have made it clear (through the Australian Vice-Chancellors Committee) that they are not able to commit any funding to take up the short fall for these essential services. Consequently, VSU will decrease the quality of legal education received by students.⁹

1.51 This was further investigated at the hearing in Perth:

CHAIR (Senator Troeth)—So you do not consider that you are providing free assistance to the law faculty by providing these services?

Mr Lodder—We do consider that we are providing free assistance to the law faculty. 10

1.52 The committee majority takes a dim view of university faculties failing in their responsibilities to provide all the essential elements of an academic program. If a university is unable to maintain a law faculty on any basis other than full responsibility for its teaching and administration, it has no business offering the course at all.

Conclusion

1.53 As a community we take the view that students have the capacity, and should enjoy the right, to choose their university or any other place of learning, to choose their degree and to choose their subjects. No student is compelled by the state to attend a particular institution or to engage a particular course of study. Students should have the right to determine whether or not they wish to belong to a student guild, union or association. Students should have the right to determine whether to pay a general services fee based on whether they value the services offered.

10 Mr Andrew Lodder, *Committee Hansard*, Perth, Wednesday, 6 July 2005, p25

⁹ ALSA, Submission 53, para.2.2.3

- 1.54 Supporters of compulsory union fees have relied on assumptions that a vibrant campus life is dependent upon compulsory union membership or a compulsory fee. This is reiterated in scores of submissions to the inquiry, but their prevalence does not give the argument much weight. Such claims are based on conjecture about the impact of VSU, and reference to the fall in student union membership in Western Australian universities. No hard evidence has been provided to support such claims, and no evidence of a decline in the vibrancy of campus life or the social activity of students in Western Australia was given. There was no adequate explanation of why curious, bright, and energetic young students gathering at a campus would not maintain a vibrant extracurricular environment of their own accord in the absence of compulsory student union membership or a compulsory fee.
- 1.55 It needs to be recognised that universities are dynamic institutions, subject to the changes that are made necessary by varied expectations of students. As noted previously, the profile of the student body is changing, and the needs of students are increasingly directed toward maintaining employment responsibilities while they are studying. There are more mature-aged students and more part-time students. The services and amenities they require are more easily provided by niche entrepreneurs responsive to student needs.
- 1.56 While there will always be a need for student leadership in the organisation of provision of services and amenities, the nature of this leadership will change with the different expectations of university life post-VSU. Student leaders of the future will work for their support and they will earn it. This important challenge for student leaders has been ignored in submissions from student organisations, just as current student leaders have shown scant interest in preparing themselves and their organisations for university life post-VSU. We can expect both the emergence of different student leadership, and the re-invention of those who adapt to change. This was summed up by Mr Michael Josem, a student leader at Monash University:

...the abolition of high, compulsory up-front and unfair amenities fees will force changes. It will force us to work harder to serve students. We'll have to work smarter to deliver services that students choose to fund. No longer will we be able to continue, reliant on a compulsory fee. We'll have to deliver services that students actually want....That's challenging for many people. The status quo is comfortable. The mediocre is easy. The future, of change, progress and excellence, is unknown. We'll have to be excellent -not merely adequate. Unsurprisingly, many people don't like that.¹¹

¹¹ Mr Michael Josem, Monash University Student Union (Caulfield), Submission 45, pp.25-26

Recommendation

The committee majority commends this bill to the Senate and urges its passage without amendment.

Senator Judith Troeth Chair

Chapter 2

Opposition senators' report

2.1 This bill represents the latest Government move to further reduce the autonomy of universities. It continues a trend toward micro-management of universities through the agency of the Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST). This was ushered in by the *Higher Education Support Act 2003*, which the bill before the committee now amends, and which was itself the subject of critical scrutiny by this committee three years ago. The amendment to prevent universities from charging fees for non-academic services is likely to seriously impede universities in their strategic and business planning, and in the building of their institutional profiles in a highly competitive industry. It is extraordinary that any government claiming an understanding of the position of universities in the modern world, and a commitment to improve their competitive position, would regulate their operations to this degree – let alone a government that professes to champion the primacy of decisions taken at enterprise-level in preference to central regulation and ministerial fiat.

Freedom of association

- 2.2 The committee has read and has heard evidence of the practical consequences that are likely to arise from this bill. Before dealing with this evidence it is necessary to give some attention to the central argument of the Government: that this bill rests on a long-standing belief that compulsory levying of student services and representation fees is contrary to principles of freedom of association, and must therefore be prohibited. In seeking to promote freedom of association, the Government ignores the practical needs of the majority of students for accessible and affordable services, notably student welfare, including counselling, representational and advocacy services in the event of disputes with the university, as well as a range of cultural, recreational and general amenities provisions.
- 2.3 Opposition senators believe that students have the right to freedom of association, thus they must always have the right not to join their student organisation. This bill conflates the Government's concern with freedom of association with student service provision and membership of the university community. Students need critical services like childcare, employment services, advocacy to assist them in their university life. These services make it possible for many students who would not otherwise attend university to remain enrolled and complete. This bill will destroy those services under the guise of freedom of association. Payment of a fee to ensure these services exist, and to facilitate the student community, in no way, contravenes the essential right to freedom of association that all students must have. In the case of universities charging student services fees it can be strongly argued that payment is a condition of university entrance. The choice which a student exercises is whether or not to embark on a course of study at a university. In this regard, the consequential obligation is no different to that which would be incurred by any individual choosing

to join an organisation for the purposes of employment, learning, recreation or any other satisfaction. There would be few if any organisations or institutions which one can enter on one's own terms, or remain autonomously within it.

- 2.4 Conflict arises in any consideration of competing or conflicting rights and responsibilities, as in the case of individual rights and the social good. Since the study of these has preoccupied political philosophers and jurisprudential thinkers for at least a millennium, opposition senators content themselves with only the brief observation that freedom of association, and the rights it may confer, in the context of this legislation, must be qualified by consideration of the rights of the student community.
- 2.5 Freedom of association is not genuinely at risk in the circumstances which this bill is intended to operate. There are other rights and responsibilities in contention with freedom of responsibility, and with which it must compete. Essentially, legislators must aim at fulfilling the greatest needs for the greatest number. It follows that the rights of individuals who may choose to 'opt out' of community obligations are reasonably regarded as undermining the viability of services available to all. Analogies have been drawn with other political or administrative entities which impose taxes on everyone regardless of the services drawn upon by individual taxpayers. The essence of the argument is valid. It comes down to whether one regards a university as broadly a 'community of scholars', or whether one views it as simply another service provider like a retailer or a bank. As the committee learned at its hearings at the University of New England, it is sometimes claimed that universities are not communities in any sense. Rather, individuals 'contract' themselves to a university for very limited utilitarian purposes. To say the least, this utilitarian view of higher education is vehemently contested by most university administrations and student bodies, and appears not to be accepted by any member of this committee.
- 2.6 A common line of Government party senators' questioning was whether proponents of VSU, especially university administrators, considered that students lacked the capacity and maturity of judgement to decide whether or not they wanted to join student organisations. The implication of the question was that students were being treated in a patronising way through being obliged to join an organisation. The answer of Opposition senators is, unequivocally, that at the point of enrolment, students become members of a community. Student organisations facilitate this community they not only offer services but also provide opportunities for development. Student organisations assist their community members, that is, students, in times of need, like academic appeals, counselling, tenancy and employment advice. This is similar to the role that local councils or governments more broadly, play in return for rates and taxes. Guild or student organisation membership can be regarded as insurance, an imposed levy which serves both the individual and the common good. There are, however, very few student organisations that now require compulsorily membership to be enrolled in a course of study.

¹ Mr Dayne Rosolen, *Committee Hansard*, Armidale, 5 July 2005, p.23

2.7 This legislation elevates an individual's right to 'opt out' of a community obligation, at the expense of a benefit to a community. In doing so it contributes to the decline of a community consciousness, as well as the more measurable deterioration of public service and facilities. Much stress has been placed on the loss of services and facilities in the majority of submissions. Opposition senators agree that this is a serious problem. What should cause more profound unease is the way in which the legislation enshrines a belief that an individual benefit conferred on a fortunate individual need not be acknowledged by any token of responsibility toward the collective institution which has bestowed that benefit. Some submissions, including the Vice-Chancellor of ANU Professor Ian Chubb in evidence to the Inquiry, used the analogy that universities are like local councils:

I have always run the argument ... that you pay to be a member of a community just as I pay to be a member of a community through my rates and taxes and everything. ... However, I do not use anything like the services that are provided by my community, but I pay in order for other people to be able to use the services that they need as part of their membership of that community. I do not use the public library or the local swimming pool, but other people do. I think that the provision of those services goes to making a community and it is through communities that Australia will get strong, not through 20 million individuals finding their own way around the tree without due regard for the neighbours and the others who are trying to find their way too. So I am somebody who believes in a sense of community. I think of the ANU community as my extended family and my job is to look after it. Part of that is to provide services that they need to have a fruitful, prosperous, enjoyable life at university with a lot of hard work added in, because they work pretty hard.²

2.8 The same legislators as will support the passage of this bill may bemoan the fact that Australian universities have few private benefactors, and that their alumni lack a consciousness of any obligations of generosity to the institutions which gave them their start to a rewarding life. If only our universities were like those of the United States, they may well say. But in the United States belief in 'individualism' is part of the fabric of national life, just as universities in that country are diverse and dynamic institutions, generously supported by their alumni. The committee has nonetheless been made aware of United States universities like Harvard and University of Illinois that charge thousands of dollars in student services fees because they believe these services to be part of the education mission.³ In the United States no government would presume to regulate universities in the way which has been done here, and so far as research can reveal, students in that country pay services fees set by the university in recognition of their obligation to the collective good.

_

² Professor Ian Chubb, *Committee Hansard*, Canberra, 7 July 2005, p.3

³ National Union of Students, Submission 162, B1.9

- 2.9 The connection between the university experience of students in the United States and continued support from the alumni was a point made by the Acting Vice Chancellor of the University of Western Australia:
 - ... all the evidence is there in the United States that, if the university makes the effort with student fees, in their case, and goes beyond that to support a very vibrant student experience, the students are likely to support that university later on. ... If the university, whether it be through an amenities fee or any other way, makes no effort for these students, the evidence is that the students will make no effort for the university once they are graduates.⁴
- 2.10 Opposition senators make the point that university administrators, being keenly aware of trends and practices in university administration abroad, and embracing the need to attract students in an internationally competitive market, will be embarrassingly hamstrung in their efforts by current government policies. These betray an obsession with centralised bureaucratic control and eccentric tendencies by way of political engineering. They are the cause of so much irritation because they are irrelevant to core business of universities, yet result in both unnecessary conflict and burdensome administrative costs. The VSU controversy is an instance of this.

Likely effects of the bill

- 2.11 Most evidence received by the committee described the likely effect the bill would have on service provision and on the quality of university experience enjoyed by students. Most agreed that the result would be a sharp reduction in the quality and quantity of services available on campus. Large numbers of students would be disadvantaged, particularly those requiring special support, such as childcare and counselling, to continue their studies. Some universities submitted that they were in a position to assist student organisations, but they would not be able to commit the same aggregate level of resources presently raised via a compulsory student services and amenities fee.
- 2.12 Local communities also stand to lose, particularly in rural areas, as student organisations shed staff and the student services economy contracts. For a number of university towns in rural Australia, where compulsory fees comprise a relatively high proportion of student organisation income, this will prove particularly damaging.⁵
- 2.13 The range and quantity of services provided through student organisations is, on many campuses, remarkable. This is testament to the energy of student leadership and acknowledges the diversity of student needs and interests. Perhaps the broadest of these services is representation, a role usually performed by the student representative council (SRC) or its equivalent. The workload of a student representative in a modern university is substantial. In addition to participating in the organisation of student activities, student representatives, particularly executive members, constitute the voice

5 See, for instance, Central Queensland University Student Association, Submission 8, p.5

_

⁴ Professor Margaret Sears, Committee Hansard, Perth, 6 July 2005, p.11

of students on a large number of councils, boards and committees. They are, as far as universities are concerned, the student voice. Professor den Hollander put it this way:

The most important thing from my perspective was student representation in terms of their capacity to interact with the university and assist with decision making. As we know, students are our core business; they are why we exist, when all is said and done. While I do not like to use the word 'stakeholder', they are the major stakeholders and it is appropriate that they are involved. It is appropriate that they involved from a strong position where they are elected and they have representation and trust in their own student bodies. Interestingly, that was one of the things that fell with VSU.⁶

- 2.14 While SRCs usually operate on only a small proportion of student fee income, the removal of that income would seriously erode the ability of representatives to perform their roles effectively. Sadly, students are most unlikely to appreciate the work which goes on 'behind the scenes' on their behalf, and for this reason are unlikely to contribute voluntarily to its continuation.
- 2.15 Advocacy support was perhaps the most commonly cited instance of an important service likely to be threatened by the current bill. The loss of such services disadvantages particularly those least able to advocate for themselves in matters affecting university rules and decisions which adversely affect them. These services can relate to issues of academic progress, grievances, and other interactions with university administration. The Chair of the Interim Student Representative Council (ISRC) from the University of Melbourne submitted that without advocacy support some students would be required to stop their studies without graduating. Should welfare services need to be supported by universities, resources must be drawn from elsewhere. Specialist advocacy services can only, by their very nature, be provided by student organisations. Universities cannot take responsibility on the grounds of conflict of interest.
- 2.16 In recent years, university student organisations have developed an exciting array of specialist employment services, ranging from casual and vacation based employment, course-related employment to careers advice and professional employment beyond graduation. Such services are often augmented by opportunities for students to meet recruiters from major employer organisations, ensuring that the transition from university study to work is considerably eased. The implementation of this bill is likely to emasculate an impressive and sorely needed portfolio of employment services. The loss of these employment opportunities is likely to be especially pronounced at regional institutions and in their associated economies.
- 2.17 Another critical service likely to be affected is childcare. La Trobe University Children's Centre submitted that it provided a childcare service to about 250 families per week, and that the majority of the Centre's clients were students receiving

7 Interim Student Representative Council, University of Melbourne, Submission 158, p.4

⁶ Professor Jan den Hollander, Committee Hansard, 6 July 2005, p.3

maximum Centrelink assistance. Without this support, it was submitted, a significant number of (mostly women) students would not be able to continue their university studies.⁸ There are likely to be implications for student retention rates if student association subsidies cease as a result of this legislation.

- 2.18 The Government has consistently argued that 'the market' will cater for students making an economic choice to purchase unsubsidised services. 'The market' is a blunt instrument, especially so if the returns to business are considered to be too low to warrant the provision of a service.
- 2.19 Food and beverage provision is often seen as a lucrative area of activity for student organisations, and is probably the most visible service offered to students. Most, if not all, student organisation service providers operate cafeterias, often providing multiple outlets on a single campus. Although prices are usually subsidised by compulsory student fees, most operations generate profits which are then directed back to students in the form of still cheaper prices or extra services.
- 2.20 Another key activity of student organisations is the staging and subsidy of social and cultural activities for students, contributing to a vibrant campus life which adds real value to a university profile. Opposition senators understand the importance of such events, activities and traditions in developing social and organisational skills, as well as lifelong contacts. Those choosing to take part in the organisation and running of activities obtain the added benefits of teamwork, leadership, interpersonal and negotiation skills. *Campus Life*, the Griffith Student Union journal, submitted that in 2004 it sponsored 233 events involving 6752 participants. The Melbourne University ISRC argued that it:

... puts on a range of events for students including film nights, bands, barbeques, cultural events and night markets. These are subsidised or free of charge and provide students with a wide array of activities to make their time at university more enjoyable and encourage social and cultural interaction. [These activities] aid students' personal development, offering students a broader educational experience than what is learned in lecture theatres... [I]t has also been demonstrated that there is a positive correlation between participation in extracurricular activities and student retention and progression rates. ¹⁰

The special case of university sport

2.21 The committee heard evidence of the effect the bill on sport and recreation facilities and services. The provision of affordable sport and recreation facilities not

_

⁸ La Trobe University Children's Centre, Submission 4, p.1

⁹ Campus Life, Submission 14, p.2

Submission 158, p.5. For further information on services directed to enhancing the student experience of university see also, for instance, University of Southern Queensland Student Guild, Submission 57, p.18; Swinburne University Union, Submission 74, p.7

only encourages health and fitness, but is important in strengthening links between the university and its supporting community. This is particularly so in rural areas. What is described here in relation to the University of New England can be applied to most university sports associations. Citing an anticipated loss of \$850 000 in annual operational income, The University of New England Sports Association reported that half of its full time staff would be retrenched, that no funds would be available for maintenance of sporting fields or indoors facilities, and that intervarsity, intercollegiate and club sport subsidies would be withdrawn. Infrastructure worth \$12 million could be underutilised and inadequately maintained. The Association would also be forced to compromise insurance cover on its facilities, increase user fees, and open fewer hours.¹¹

- 2.22 Such measures would reduce access of students to sports facilities and eventually deny also to the local community access to sports facilities at UNE for the reason that they could no longer be maintained. Financial constraints would inhibit the UNE's ability to host sports camps and major championship events, affecting not only the Association but also colleges on campus for whom accommodation revenue at vacation period is critical. Similarly wide ranging effects were anticipated by all other sports associations which made submissions.¹²
- 2.23 Submissions have pointed to the contradiction between the effect of the bill on university sport, and the aims of the Government's own health and fitness policies. Australian University Sport submitted that the bill would have the effect of removing \$32 million from sport, health and fitness in both Australian universities and the broader community.

... inconsistencies with government policies on sport, health and fitness, one of which is the user-pays myth that sport, health and fitness can be funded on a user pays basis. This is totally inconsistent with government expenditure at federal, state and local levels where \$2.2 billion is invested annually...we would also like to think there is a major inconsistency in the government's investment of \$90 million into sport, health and fitness for children at primary school or high school. We look at that and ask, "Where do we find a corresponding opportunity for our organisations to be able to raise the essential funds to be able to provide the infrastructure that is so important for these activities?" ¹³

2.24 It should be kept in mind that a significant number of universities in Australia are spread over more than one campus. Central Queensland University, for instance, operates at nine different campuses. Replicating infrastructure and services for the benefit of students on each campus inevitably involves added expense, further

See, for instance, University of New South Wales Sports Association, *Submission 72*, p.5; Newcastle University Sport, *Submission 82*, pp.6-12; Adelaide University Sports Association, *Submission 143*, p.3

¹¹ University of New England Sports Association, Submission 69, p.3

¹³ Mr Gregory Harris, *Committee Hansard*, Armidale, 5 July 2005, p.39

straining the resources of student organisations. Australian University Sport submitted that nation-wide more than \$600 million of sporting infrastructure built up over generations of student contributions would be jeopardised by the removal of guaranteed revenue streams. The committee also heard that community sporting competitions, especially in rural areas, rely on the participation of university sporting teams and facilities to remain viable. If university sporting clubs were forced to withdraw from a local competition, it could render the entire competition unviable.

2.25 Government senators supporting this bill appear to believe that students attending university should only expect to be provided with a narrowly focussed academic experience and that a well-rounded campus life is neither necessary nor desirable. This view fails to take into account the interconnectedness of academic and campus life, particularly as it relates to participation in sport and recreational activities. In the words of Senator elect Barnaby Joyce:

... Now when you go to a university you acknowledge that you are going to an institution that is both buildings and fields – *'mens sana in corpus sana'* a healthy mind and a healthy body – and sport is a great mechanism for getting some social interaction going ¹⁵

Postgraduate students

2.26 Postgraduate associations provide students with services which are different in character to those provided to undergraduates. Nonetheless, the committee heard that the effect of the bill on those services would be the same. Services relating to candidature and academic issues, research for quality assurance, and support for international and external postgraduates through the provision of study corrals and other study facilities would be severely curtailed, if not discontinued. If anything, the effect on postgraduates associations would be swifter and more dramatic, as they tend to draw all or most of their income from the compulsory fee, and rarely engage in commercial activities to bolster their income.¹⁶

Effect on universities

2.27 Vice chancellors have argued that the inability to provide an adequate range of services and amenities would inhibit the ability of their universities to attract students.¹⁷ With domestic and international demand weakening, universities such as UNE have to find new and novel ways to sell themselves. Vice Chancellor Moses put it this way:

¹⁴ Australian University Sport, Submission 173, p. 3

¹⁵ Senator Barnaby Joyce speaking on ABC 774, 29 June 2005

¹⁶ Council of Australian Postgraduate Associations (CAPA), Submission 157, p.11

¹⁷ See, for example, Professor Ingrid Moses, *Committee Hansard*, 5 July 2005, p.3; Dr Kerry Ferguson, *Committee Hansard*, 4 July 2005, p.11; Ms Lin Martin, *Committee Hansard*, 4 July 2005, p.3. Other witnesses made this observation, too. See, for instance, Mr Michael Torney, *Committee Hansard*, 4 July 2005, p.28

UNE's recruitment hinges significantly on the "UNE package" of both academic offerings and health, welfare and support services and cultural opportunities, which attract students to study in a regional location where otherwise study at a metropolitan location would be more attractive.¹⁸

2.28 International students are heavy users of services such as advocacy, not surprisingly given difficulties with language and culture. The National Liaison Committee for International Students in Australia argued that:

Universities have always promoted themselves and Australia as a preferred destination on the basis of multiculturalism and student support services available on campus. Under VSU, support services will be costly and expenses for international students will increase, which will make Australia less competitive. The tuition fee which is already high for many programs and is equal to the US, coupled with medical fees and the highest visa charges, it is anyone's guess how many international students Australia will attract in coming years. The numbers are already slowing down and international students are already indicating that Australian education is not giving them the value for money. With such major issues looming over international education sector, introduction of VSU bill is self-destroying.¹⁹

- 2.29 The international student market is important to Australian universities. Making up 25 per cent of the student population, international students contribute \$1.7 billion in fees, and are worth \$5.9 billion to the Australian economy. The government has chosen to ignore the needs of foreign students, and has failed to realise the potential for them to study elsewhere as a result of Australian universities being forced to offer a sub-standard university experience.
- 2.30 The ultimate responsibility of university administrations for student services looms as a serious problem to be faced in a number of universities, particularly in the newer and smaller institutions. The committee heard evidence of the likelihood that at least some student organisations would become insolvent with the successful passage of the bill. Mr Kevin Stapleton of the University of Southern Queensland Student Guild reported to the committee that, even if a significant number of students chose to remain members of the student organisation and pay their fees, the guild would be forced to retrench all staff. Mr Stapleton submitted that:

[A]s an incorporated association, the board have a fiducial responsibility to not trade if they believe that they may become insolvent. In order to protect staff entitlements of approximately \$800 000, the board have a responsibility to ensure that if they are unsure of the income that may come

_

¹⁸ UNE, *Submission 19*, p.4. See also Central Queensland University Student Association, *Submission 8*, paragraph 2.2.9.

¹⁹ National Liaison Committee for International Students in Australia, Submission 168, p.8

²⁰ ibid., p.8. See also CAPA, Submission 157, ACUMA, Submission 117, p.8

- in next year, they cannot, in accordance with their corporate responsibilities, continue to trade.²¹
- 2.31 Like a number of other student organisations, USQ also carries debt incurred for the construction of buildings. This debt would have to be assumed by the university in the event that the guild was unable to function at a level at which it could repay the loan.
- 2.32 In the event that other student organisations take a similar view to that of USQ (and this may depend on the application of state laws) the bill could see student organisations in several universities forced to close. Again, the university would be responsible for student services arrangements, and this task would be likely to last into the long-term. Such consequences have been left unexamined by those trying to impose this bill on universities and their students.

The wider community interest

- 2.33 The effects of this bill do not stop at the campus gates. The Australian Campus Union Managers' Association (ACUMA) submitted that of the \$1 billion or more in gross receivables taken by the campus services sector nationally, around \$170 million is derived from compulsory fees. They point out that VSU is likely to see fees income contract to around \$45 million, a fall of \$125 million. ACUMA draws on the West Australian experience, discussed later in this dissenting report, to conclude that gross sector wide receivables are likely to decline by half or more, to less than \$500 million per annum.
- 2.34 The effects of income reduction will have their most obvious and significant effect on the staff employed by student organisations, and the external suppliers of goods and services. Of the estimated 14 000 people employed in campus service provision nationally, it is forecast from the Western Australian experience, that around 30 per cent, or about 4 200 people, will be made redundant.²² Many of the newly unemployed will have lost part-time jobs, significantly in new or regionally-based universities, which generally do not have significant cash reserves with which to sustain themselves. Alarmingly, given the findings of the EWRE references committee's recent inquiry into student income support, many of the retrenched will be students
- 2.35 The bill has scant regard for campuses outside the major cities, and represents a threat to those regional communities who rely on the economic activity generated by student service provision. Many of the local clubs and societies which have come to rely on university infrastructure will also lose out, as facilities become run down, or are withdrawn from use. Local economies in rural and non-metropolitan areas will

²¹ Mr Kevin Stapleton, *Committee Hansard*, Armidale, 5 July 2005, p.34

²² ACUMA, Submission 117, p.6

suffer most acutely through the implementation of this policy because university campuses account for a substantial proportion of demand for goods and services.

- 2.36 The committee heard evidence that in the case of La Trobe University, which has six non-metropolitan campuses, 43 staff of that organisation are likely to lose their employment and about \$1.4 million will be taken out of local rural economies in Victoria. In addition, local university facilities will not be able to be maintained for use by local community organisations.²³ This problem would be felt in rural areas across the nation.
- 2.37 The committee also heard of the likely effect in Armidale, where support services for the university and its students are a cornerstone of the local economy. The effect of a multi-million dollar withdrawal of funds from a community like this could be serious. The university acts as a resource for the community, particularly in relation to sporting fields, conference facilities and cultural events. If funding for the development and maintenance of such facilities is not available, they will be lost to the community. Mr Gerard Stephen, Chair of the Armidale Community International Sports Precinct Fundraising Committee, put it this way:

As well as directly benefiting the students of UNE, facilities are available for the use of the wider university and Armidale communities, helping the region and the university to attract and retain qualified staff and their families to live and work here. Within a VSU environment, facilities and services such as student advocacy and maintenance of playing fields which by their nature generate very limited revenue, yet require a high level of resources to maintain will fall to the university to fund, or will result in the decline in facilities and increased pressure on those provided by the local council, welfare organisations, or Armidale sporting clubs.²⁴

Experience with VSU in Western Australia and Victoria

2.38 Two very different models of VSU were introduced in 1994 by the Kennett government in Victoria, and by the (Richard) Court government in Western Australia. When first introduced, the main point of distinction between the two models was that Victorian students were still able to be charged a compulsory fee, even where they chose not to join a student organisation. This fee could be allocated by universities to student bodies according to a prescribed list of activities, which excluded political activity. In Western Australia, universities were prohibited from charging students a compulsory fee. Legislation in that state made guild membership voluntary. The list of prescribed activities for Victoria was broadened in 1996, and replaced in 2000 by the Bracks government with the requirement that universities could charge a fee to provide facilities, services or activities of direct benefit to students. Western Australia

²³ Dr Kerry Ferguson, Committee Hansard, Melbourne, 4 July 2005, p.2

The Armidale Community International Sports Precinct Fundraising Committee, *Submission* 66, p.2. See also Mr Greg Harris, *Committee Hansard*, Armidale, 5 July 2005, p.39

adopted a model similar to the one in place in Victoria for the beginning of the 2003 academic year.

- 2.39 The most immediate effect of the West Australian legislation was a dramatic loss in income as only a small proportion of students chose to pay fees. The University of Western Australia and Curtin University retained a membership of about 30 per cent, while Edith Cowan Student Guild dropped to 6 per cent. The Murdoch University student organisation did comparatively well, retaining 35 per cent of the student body as members.²⁵ It was observed that members of student organisations were forced to spend more time marketing the organisation, and less time delivering services.²⁶
- 2.40 The nature of student services is that viability and access are maximised where services are used widely and the revenue base for services is broad. Once a significant number of users withdraw, the capacity to provide for low volume services, or services provided at lower demand times, reduced significantly. When services become restricted, fewer will seek to use them, and a downward spiral develops in which the services fall away. Students see a declining benefit in their membership of the organisation, and patronage falls.²⁷ This 'reverse multiplier effect' is debilitating, and accounts for the larger drop in projected income for student organisations under VSU than might be anticipated merely from extrapolating projected voluntary membership.
- 2.41 The Government has argued that student services substantially continued under VSU in WA, even going so far as to say that services 'flourished'. This is demonstrably the opposite of what really happened. In claiming that services were substantially continued under VSU in Western Australia, proponents neglect to report the massive assistance rendered by universities and by the Commonwealth to ensure that this was the case. Commonwealth support was discontinued after 1996, by the Howard government, leaving universities to assist student organisations. During this committee's inquiry into the 1999 bill, the acting Vice Chancellor of Edith Cowan University advised the committee that in 1998 the university had provided \$100 000 to their guild to support a limited range of representational, social and cultural activities. Such measures put pressure on the university's funding for its academic program, but there was no alternative if the university was to remain competitive locally and internationally. Services which may have continued for the first couple

See, for example, Professor Jan den Hollander, *Committee Hansard*, Perth, 6 July 2005, p.3

_

²⁵ AVCC, Submission 176, p.7

For further elaboration of this argument see, for example, AVCC, *Submission 176*, p.7; Australian Law Students' Association, *Submission 53*, p.6; Swinburne University Union, *Submission 74*, p.9; Murdoch University Guild, *Submission 87*, p.4

Hon. Brendan Nelson MP, *The 7.30 Report*, ABC television, 16 March 2005.

²⁹ Senate Employment, Workplace Relations, Small Business and Education Legislation Committee, Consideration of the Provisions of the Higher Education Legislation Amendment Bill 1999, p. 32

of years after VSU only survived through external subsidy. It is a demonstrably false claim that services 'flourished' under the VSU system.

- 2.42 Even with the assistance received from universities and from the Commonwealth until 1996, student services at universities in WA were not fully maintained. At the University of Western Australia Guild, alone, the committee heard that twenty eight employees were laid off, the guild computer lounge, sexual assault service, and accident insurance for students were all cancelled, and budgets for other student services were cut by up to 80 per cent. Curtin University Guild lost \$3 million in revenue the year following the introduction of VSU, as membership plummeted to 10 per cent. There were fourteen staff redundancies, and a range of services discontinued. More dramatically, Edith Cowan University Student Guild went into liquidation in 1999 as a direct consequence of the WA legislation. The current bill most closely resembles the legislation introduced in WA, and it was in that state that most harm was caused to student services and to the quality of university services.
- 2.43 The Victorian situation was somewhat different, as universities continued to collect compulsory fees. The legislation prescribed the types of activities able to be funded through fees collected, and this was subsequently broadened to encompass most of the activities undertaken pre-1994. The result was that associations in Victoria continued to offer a generally wide range of services, and membership of organisations, although voluntary, remained high.³¹
- 2.44 As noted earlier, membership of student organisations in Victoria is voluntary and yet the bill as presented would prevent the payment by students in that state of a universal services and amenities fee, even though such a fee is necessarily unrelated to considerations of organisational membership. This suggests to opposition senators that the proponents of the bill are merely using arguments regarding the undesirability of compulsory membership as a smoke screen to obscure other ideologically driven aims and objectives.
- 2.45 Universities are the only possible source of supplementary funding for organisations in the event of the bill passing unamended. While some universities have signalled their ability to supplement revenue at the margins, as happened in WA, none claim to be able to replace student fees in their entirety. A number of vice chancellors indicated that they were examining which services they would be most likely to be able to fund, should the bill proceed, with the clear implication that many valuable services and amenities will be discontinued rapidly.³²

31 Australian Law Students' Association, Submission 53, p.11

32 See, for example, Professor Ingrid Moses, *Committee Hansard*, 5 July 2005, p.3; Ms Lin Martin, *Committee Hansard*, 4 July p.3; Professor Ian Young, *Committee Hansard*, 4 July 2005, p.4

³⁰ Curtin University Student Guild, Submission 73, p.15

Private enterprise on campus

- 2.46 The Government has argued that the market will cater for students making an economic choice to purchase unsubsidised services. It is argued that with additional discretional money at their disposal, since the removal of the compulsory fee, students will take advantage of wider choice and improved competition. But as noted earlier in this report, the market cannot be relied on to provide the goods and services which students need. The Government's expectations are based on some theoretical model of market competition which ignores certain realities which pertain to university campuses.
- 2.47 First, there is some doubt that commercial retailers will find sufficient incentives to establish outlets in universities. Students spend barely more than half the year on campus, and retailers must endure longer than normal periods of low trading, without the possibility of pricing their goods and services at a premium during periods of peak custom. It is believed that rural campuses will be especially affected in this regard. UNE was able to draw on actual experience in making the point:

A number of services have already proven unviable to operate commercially, with two banks closing down their campus operations, the Commonwealth in 1998 and the National Australia Bank in 2001. The oncampus travel agent franchise and real estate business shop front recently closed down, and in 2003 the student organisation took over the post office...and the hairdressing salon in order to ensure those services would still be available on campus.³³

- 2.48 It is highly unlikely that commercial services lost under current arrangements would return in the more straitened circumstances of VSU
- 2.49 Second, students, particularly undergraduates, are predominantly low income earners with limited spending capacity. They require services which are basic and inexpensive. Such services, which have been provided effectively by student organisations for many years, also need to be responsive to changing student needs and interests, or they will cease to be relevant or attractive to their customers. Student organisations are uniquely well-placed to stay in touch with changing student priorities.
- 2.50 The need to drive both efficiency and competition in provision of student services was highlighted by Government party senators. This received a cautious response from ACUMA about the realities of university marketing.

Retail operates on the brutal truth of feet past the door. If the level of activity around guild premises or union premises is diminishing because of the lack of funding of activities or other services and if there are no feet past the door, then whether it is a union operated outlet or a private enterprise

operated outlet, if that traffic is not being generated, there can quite clearly be some knock-on effects on both union services and private services.³⁴

- 2.51 This refers to the maxim that business attracts business, and that crowds mean sales. It is a concept familiar to shopping mall proprietors, who maximise returns from a careful mix of retailers. But if core funding on important services is cut, equivalent to the departure of a leading retailer, the reverse multiplier effect will come into play.
- 2.52 Another difficulty for commercial retailers in universities may be that in some circumstances their profitability may be further eroded by peculiar needs of students and community life on campus. One submission, from the University of Adelaide Union has pointed to instances where its role would be in conflict with commercial retailing:

In many instances the interests of the members of the AUU and the commercial imperative of the AUU ... are in direct conflict. For example, a free BBQ for AUU members on the Barr-Smith Lawns, which are directly in front of the AUU's main food outlet, is beneficial for members of the AUU, but is contrary to commercial interests. Likewise, the provision of food for minority groups, such as Halal and vegetarian options, are beneficial to members but are not commercially viable. Unibooks face a similar difficulty in stocking highly specialised academic texts that do not sell sufficient quantities to be profitable.³⁵

Advocacy and representational roles of student organisations threatened

- 2.53 Although it can be anticipated that commercial retailers will have a difficult time taking up their assumed role in substituting for current services provision by student organisations, the fee-for-service businesses presently run by student organisations will have an equally difficult time, and like commercial retailers, will need to seriously compromise they way they have traditionally operated. They will need to make profits in order to fund essential services for which fees cannot be charged. This will distort the usual role of student organisations, and oblige them to devote more of their efforts toward marketing their wares.
- 2.54 This experience was rather an unhappy one for guilds in Western Australia when VSU operated in that state. Government party senators have stated the necessity for student organisations to market themselves to attract student membership, but this creates problems for student leaders who see their main role as being advocates for student interests, both collectively and individually. The Pro Vice Chancellor of the Curtin University of Technology had some comments to make on this point, recollecting that student leaders had to spend so much time marketing to the student body and saying, 'Please come and join us; this is what we can do for you.'

See, for example, Mr Thomas O'Sullivan, *Committee* Hansard, 6 July 2005, p.44. For an example of reduced income for maintenance, see La Trobe University Union, *Submission* 91, p.2.

³⁵ Adelaide University Union, Submission 101, p.13

They had to spend a lot of time in what I would call hospitality management. That attracts a different kind of person than perhaps the broad group of people that you need to get the kind of representation you have in universities. There was a drop-off in the energy that was required to do the representation on the committees of the universities, because so much time was spent in marketing and making sure that they got their memberships up. 36

2.55 Professor den Hollander stated that in the VSU days the effectiveness of the representative role of student organisations was to some extent compromised because they had less time to devote to their core function.

I would say that the intensity of what they had to concern themselves with was diverted from the very things we might have wished them to spend 100 per cent of their time on into things that maybe they needed to spend their time on. They had to become money raisers rather than be representatives of their community. I think the two things are somewhat different. I spoke to some of the guild presidents during that period and I remember one famously saying to me, 'I'm just a hospitality manager; I need to make sure we have the money so that I can do the other stuff but the time I have to spend getting the money is much more than it should be compared with the amount of time I need to spend in the university understanding teaching, learning and research and development and the very things that impact on student experiences.'37

- 2.56 Opposition senators take this as evidence that student advocacy services are likely to be threatened in the absence of a student fee, even if other services manage to survive. It is generally accepted that cost rules out the use of private practitioners in student advocacy services. The cost of a solicitor's time at commercial rates far exceeds the annual student organisation fee. La Trobe University Union, reported that 1 200 students used the University Union's legal service in 2004. In the absence of advocacy assistance from the student organisation, students in need of services but not able to afford professional legal representation would be forced to apply for legal aid.38
- 2.57 Student advocacy services are regarded by universities as very important for the purposes of ensuring transparency in their own appeals processes. Yet this important facility is one which universities will be unable to provide, or even subsidise. For them to do so would compromise the independence of the student body and they would be placed in the untenable position of advocating against themselves. This conflict of interest would not only diminish the likelihood of a fair hearing, but would also result in a perception of justice not being seen to be done. As the Distance

38 Mr Michael Torney, Committee Hansard, Melbourne, 4 July 2005, p.33

Professor Jan den Hollander, Committee Hansard, Perth, 6 July 2005, p.3 36

³⁷ ibid., p.4

Education Liaison Officer from the Rivcoll Union at Charles Sturt University explained:

Advocacy requires direct challenges to the university and its staff. It is hard to imagine how mechanisms could be put in place to protect employees from pressure from more senior university members. It is even more fanciful to suggest that universities would engage barristers on behalf of student to challenge the legality of its own decisions.³⁹

2.58 This dilemma would be one of the most problematic to be faced by universities in the event of the bill being passed, at least in unamended form, and is one of many contentious issues conveniently overlooked by the Government in its single-minded implementation of what it likes to call 'reform'.

Universities as service providers

- 2.59 Universities will almost certainly be forced into assuming increased responsibility for provision of services now provided by student organisations. The extent to which they can afford to do so without increasing the levels of fees to the limits of their discretion will vary considerably. This is likely to lead to wider disparities between well-off universities, and those which are struggling. This may be organised through a new form of contract between student organisations and their 'host' institutions. The Government's proposals are drastic in their scope and effect, and limited in their vision. Theirs is not a conservative measure because it fails to protect the standing and the interests of the universities. It is the antithesis of reform.
- 2.60 There remains some doubt about the ability of universities to deploy funds received from the Commonwealth for the provision of student services. 40 Officials from the Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST) made clear to the committee that any university levying a compulsory charge for student 'non-academic' services would run foul of the provisions of the bill. On the other hand, DEST also advised the committee that universities would be free to allocate money to student services from any other source of revenue other than from the Commonwealth. From here on the advice is equivocal:

As you know, we fund universities' general operations through the Commonwealth Grant Scheme. The universities are required to deliver a certain number of student places for that funding, but there is no explicit prohibition or prescription on how they might go about that. If they choose to support in certain ways their students who are in those places, again, they could do that.⁴¹

2.61 However, such funds would come at the expense of already scarce resources directed at academic services, the core function of the university. As noted at the

³⁹ Mr Bruce Boyton, Submission 18, p.3

⁴⁰ See, for instance, National Union of Students, Submission 159, para. C2.9

⁴¹ Mr Rod Manns, Committee Hansard, Canberra, 7 July 2005, p.46

⁴² ibid.

beginning of this section, the capacity of universities to pay for these services will vary considerably. Some universities will nonetheless be obliged to stretch their budgets to cover general student organisation, and even sports association services and facilities because of their appeal to foreign fee-paying students and the need to compete on the international student market.

2.62 Even in the unlikely event that universities were able to find a way to allocate funds, pressure might still be brought to bear for the application of a 'private enterprise' business model on services. University administrations would be less likely to provide services which are unlikely to either break even or make a profit. A proportion of services offered by most student organisations, such as childcare, counselling, advocacy and representation are either not able to be charged out on a 'user pays' basis, or are required to be subsidised heavily to enable access. This, in most cases, precludes non-profit services, and would be less attractive to universities undertaking a service provision role. It is foreseeable that administrators might consider themselves to be restricted to those activities and services for which profit could be anticipated, such as unsubsidised retail outlets.

Penalty clauses

2.63 The Australian Vice-Chancellors' Committee has pointed to some inconsistency in the penalty provisions:

The current penalty provision in the bill is highly unnecessary, as universities are already subject to penalties provisions in the Act for failure to meet conditions of funding. It is understood that it is a matter of Government policy that the Minister should not have discretion on the issue of the penalty. The AVCC maintains that is makes the penalty provision inconsistent with the Act, in that the Minister is able to use his discretion regarding other breaches of funding conditions. ⁴³

2.64 The Vice-Chancellor of Swinburne University described the penalty clause as 'insulting'. Another described it as a 'penalty out of kilter with the crime'. The AVCC has stated that universities have always worked within the law, and do not need the folly of badly considered penalties to ensure that they do. 45

Conclusion

2.65 Can this legislation be described as promoting effective public policy? The best and only test of legislation is whether it serves the common good. There is no evidence at all presented by the Government that this will occur should this bill be passed without amendment. There has been no agitation in universities in favour of this measure, apart from a very small number of students who are members of

⁴³ AVCC, Submission 176, p.12

Professor Ian Young, Ms Lin Martin, Committee Hansard, Melbourne, 4 July 2005, p.2

⁴⁵ *Submission 176*, p.12

associations affiliated with the parties of the governing coalition. Nor is there any reason to doubt the validity of opinion polls on several campuses which indicate significant majority opposition to the bill before the committee.

- 2.66 It is clear to opposition senators that this bill, if enacted, will severely weaken student organisations. It will greatly reduce the provision of essential services for them, and few students will be unaffected. The evidence in this regard is not merely speculative. The experience of universities in Western Australia is well-documented, and gives all universities and student bodies both serious cause for concern, and an indication of drastic measures that they will all be forced to take. Undoubtedly, VSU will diminish the quality and diversity of university life, which, despite the increasing workloads of most students, is an important experience in life's development. It is their ideal opportunity to take on, not only increased personal responsibility and development of leadership skills, but responsibility for elements of community life in the service of others.
- 2.67 Thus, if VSU comes into effect, it will bring no practical benefit, either to students, the universities, or the wider community which is served by the facilities and social infrastructure which universities provide.

Recommendation

Opposition and Democrat senators urge the Senate to reject this legislation.

Senator Gavin Marshall Deputy Chair **Senator George Campbell**

Senator Natasha Stott Despoja

List of submissions

Sub No:	From:
1	Mr Geoff McDonough, Tas
2	University of New South Wales College of Fine Arts Students' Association
3	Mr Stephen Davis
4	La Trobe University Children's Centre
5	Ms Holly Kendall, NSW
6	Ms Sophia Davidson, NSW
7	University of New England Postgraduate Association (UNEPA)
8	Central Queensland University Student Association
9	Ms Brittany McKee, Qld
10	Mr Jan Golembiewski, NSW
11	Rev Judith Redman, NSW
12	Mr Mathew Jordan, Qld
13	Clubs and Societies Division, Monash Student Association
14	Campus Life, Griffith University
15	University of New England Postgraduate Association
16	Mr Phillip Ablett, Qld
17	Sydney University Dramatic Society
18	Rivcoll Union, Student Association at CSU, Wagga Wagga
19	The University of New England
20	Ms Jessica Donnellan, Qld
21	Melbourne university Women's Football Club

22	University of the Sunshine Coast Student Guild
23	Mr Joel Parsons, Vic
24	Tasmanian Rugby Union Inc
25	Tertiary Campus Ministry Association Australia Inc
26	Australian National University
27	Mr Paul Rogers, Vic
28	The University of New England Combined Student Organisation
29	Ms Vasiliky Kasidis, Vic
30	Victoria University
31	Mr Ryan Ginard, Qld
32	Mr Vinnie Piatek, Vic
33	University of Melbourne Postgraduate Association Inc
34	Ms Chloe Pearse
35	Ms Rebecca Leeks, Qld
36	Mr Joe Szakacs, SA
37	Mr Brentyn Stafford, Vic
38	Mr Maximilian Bryant, NSW
39	Mr Benjamin Jackson
40	Mr Robert McDougall, NSW
41	Queensland University of Technology Student Guild Queer Portfolio
42	Queensland University of Technology Student Guild Womens Portfolio
43	Mr Alex Schlotzer, Vic
44	Queensland University of Technology Student Guild
45	Monash University Student Union, Caulfield

46	Mr Giles Dickenson-Jones
47	USQ Student Guild
48	University of New South Wales Postgraduate Board
49	Campus Central
50	University of Technology, Sydney
51	Flinders Postgraduate Students' Association
52	La Trobe University Postgraduate Association
53	Australian Law Students' Association
54	Edith Cowan University (Bunbury Campus), Faculty of Regional Professional Studies
55	Ms Rachel Smith, Qld
56	Bita Riazati, Vic
57	Mr Kirk Gibson, Vic
58	Wodonga Student Association Inc
59	Macquarie University Debating Society
60	Mr Nathan Booth, NSW
61	Mr Andrew Fattal, NSW
62	Swinburne University of Technology
63	Australasian Network of Students with Disabilities
64	Mr Dan McIntyre, Qld
65	Mr Tim Chapman
66	The Armidale Community International Sports Precinct Fundraising Committee
67	Victorian Liberal Students' Association Inc
68	Economics and Commerce Student Society
69	The University of New England Sports Association

70	Melbourne University Student Union
71	University of Wollongong Undergraduate Students' Association
72	University of New South Wales Sports Association
73	Curtin Student Guild
74	Swinburne Student Union
75	Wollongong University Postgraduate Association
76	Mr Robert Stephenson, Vic
77	ECU Student Guild, Edith Cowan University
78	Bendigo Student Association Incorporated
79	Edith Cowan University
80	Mr David Hammerton, Vic
81	James Cook University Postgraduate Students Association
82	Newcastle University Sport
83	University of Queensland Union
84	Students' Association of the University of Technology, Sydney
85	Union House Theatre, M U Student Union Ltd Mudfest 9, M U Student Union Ltd La Trobe University Student Theatre and Film Office Monash Student Theatre, Monash Student Association RMIT Union Arts, RMIT
86	Northern Inland Academy of Sport
87	Murdoch Guild of Students
88	Ms Isobelle Meyering, NSW
89	Students of James Cook University
90	Deakin University Student Association
91	La Trobe University Union
92	The Australian Student Environment Network

93	The University of New South Wales
94	The Postgraduate and Research Students' Association of the Australian National University
95	Swinburne Student Union
96	Ms Anna Rose, Vic
97	Women's Department, Students' Association Flinders University
98	Mr David Pearson
99	University of Newcastle Law Students' Association
100	Mr John Pezy, SA
101	Adelaide University Union
102	Flinders University Clubs and Societies Association Inc
103	University of Wollongong Oxfam Club
104	Mr Chris White
105	Victoria University Student Union
106	Mr Daney Faddoul, NSW
107	National Tertiary Education Union, National Office
108	Staff of UNSW College of Fine Arts Students' Association
109	The Tasmania University Union Inc
110	Melbourne University Juggling Club
111	Monash Postgraduate Association Inc
112	Victorian Women Lawyers
113	Ms Melissa Bubnic
114	University of New South Wales Union
115	Melbourne University Student Union
116	Sydney University Law Society
117	University of New England Students' Association

118	UWSConnect
119	Philip Betts, NSW
120	University of Sydney Students' Representative Council
121	Interim Student Representative Council
122	UNSW College of Fine Arts Students' Association
123	NSW/ACT Student Environment Activist Network
124	Research Intensive Consortium
125	The Australian National University Students' Association
126	Ms Victoria Brookman, NSW
127	Griffith University Postgraduate Students' Association
128	Wholefoods Restaurant, Monash Student Association, Clayton
129	Melbourne University Student Union, Interim Student Representative Committee
130	University of South Australia Student's Association
131	Queensland Government
132	Overseas Students' Association
133	Southern Branch Union of Australian Women, Victoria
134	National Union of Student, NSW Branch
135	Rabelais Student Media, La Trobe University
136	Professor Rigmor George
137	Mr Dalit Kaplan
138	ACU National Student Association
139	Monash University Gippsland Student Union
140	The University Of New England Undergraduate Students
141	Newcastle University Students' Association
142	Mr Mark Peart

143	Adelaide University Sports Association Inc
143A	Adelaide University Sports Association Inc
144	Mr Alexander White, Vic
145	La Trobe University
146	Mitsuko Nanke, NSW
147	Melbourne University Windsports Club
148	Griffith University Student Guild
149	Mr Ray Barbero, NSW
150	RMIT Student Union
151	MU Student Union Ltd
152	The Students' Representative Council of the University of Sydney
153	Womens' Department, Interim Student Representative Committee University of Melbourne
154	Mr Same Franzway, SA
155	Students' Association of Flinders University
156	UWS Students' Association
157	Council of Australian Postgraduate Associations
158	Interim Student Representative Committee, University of Melbourne
159	NUS National Queer Department
160	Students' Association of the University of Adelaide
161	La Trobe University Student Representative Council Inc
162	National Union of Students
163	Edith Cowan University Student Guild
164	Joni Soit Newspaper
165	Department of Education, Science and Training

166	University of Sydney Union
167	National Union of Students Queensland branch
168	National Liaison Committee for International Students in Australia
169	University of New South Wales Student Guild
170	National Indigenous Postgraduate Association Aboriginal Corporation
171	ACUMA
172	UTS Union Ltd
173	Australian University Sport
174	UWA Student Guild
175	Australian Liberal Students' Federation
176	Australian Vice-Chancellors' Committee
177	University of Tasmania Student Association
178	University of Newcastle
179	NUS – West
180	Southern Cross University Student Representative Council Southern Cross University Union
181	University of Melbourne
182	Ms Emma Berglund
183	Charles Sturt University Student Association
184	The University of Sydney
185	James Cook University
186	Progressive Law Students' Association
187	Melbourne University Renegades Volleyball Club
188	Curtin University of Technology
189	RMIT University

190	Mr Russell Carter, NSW			
191	Mr Al Borowski			
192	Council of Heads of Australian University Theatre Studies Institutions			

Hearings and witnesses

Melbourne, Monday, 4 July 2005

Australian Vice-Chancellors' Committee

Dr Kerry Ferguson, *Pro Vice-Chancellor (Equity and Access), La Trobe University* Ms Lin Martin, *Vice-President (Academic and Information Services), Deakin University*

Professor Ian Young, Vice-Chancellor, Swinburne University of Technology

Swinburne Student Union

Ms Vasiliky Kasidis, Education Vice President

Monash University Gippsland Student Union

Mr Sean McLoughlin, President

RMIT Student Union

Mr Stuart Martin, *Queer Officer*Ms Belgin Besim, *Research and Information Officer, Governance*

Melbourne University Student Union Ltd

Mr Lowan Sist, Chief Executive Officer

La Trobe University Union

Mr Michael Torney, General Manager

Melbourne University Student Union, Interim Student Representative Council

Mr Scott Gavens, Activities Officer

Mr Paul, Donegan Chair, Interim Student Representative Committee, University of Melbourne

Melbourne University Student Union

Mr Clancy Dobbyn, Clubs and Societies Officer

Melbourne University Student Union

Mr James Round, *Editor, Farrago* Ms Clare Chandler, *Editor, Farrago*

Deakin University Student Organisation

Mr Andrew Butterworth, General Representative on Council Ms Helen Kavanagh, Research and Support Officer Ms Charlie Sanders, Burwood Campus Coordinator

Monash Student Union, Caulfield

Mr Michael Josem, President

Australian Liberal Students Federation

Mr John Osborn, Victorian Convenor

Armidale, Tuesday, 5 July 2005

University of New England

Professor Ingrid Moses, Vice-Chancellor

University of New England Union

Mrs Susanne Paini, *Chief Executive Officer*Ms Romane Abell, *Senior Vice-President, Management Committee, SportUNE*

University of New England Postgraduate Students Association

Ms Cathryn McCormack, Vice-President
Ms Diane Davies, Research and Liaison Officer

University of New England Students Association

Miss Amy Houston, *Councillor* Mr Dayne Rosolen, *Treasurer*

University of Southern Queensland Student Guild

Mr Kevin Stapleton, General Manager

Australian University Sport

Mr Daniel Marsden, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Gregory Harris, Chair, Australian Working Party on Voluntary Student Unionism, Australian University Sport; and Executive Director, Sydney University Sport Mr Adrian Iakin, Executive Officer, Newcastle University Sport Mr Stephen Griffith, Executive Director, Sport University of New England

Armidale Community International Sports Precinct Fundraising Committee

Mr Gerard Stephen, Chair

Perth, Wednesday, 6 July 2005

Australian Vice-Chancellors' Committee

Professor Jane Den Hollander, *Pro Vice-Chancellor, Curtin University of Technology* Professor Margaret Seares, *Acting Vice-Chancellor, University of Western Australia* Professor Patrick Garnett, *Acting Vice-Chancellor, Edith Cowan University* Dr Susan King, *Executive Director, Governance, Policy and Planning, Edith Cowan University*

Murdoch University Guild of Students

Ms Barbara Whelan, *Guild President* Mr Gregory Mahney, *General Manager*

Curtin Student Guild

Mr Patrick Gorman, *Guild President*Ms Rikki Hendon, *Education Vice President*

Australian Law Students Association

Mr Andrew Lodder, Vice-President Education Mr Michael Bachas, Education Officer External Research

Edith Cowan University Student Guild

Ms Alice Migdale, Chair, Equity and Diversity Board

University of Western Australia Student Guild

Miss Natalie Hepburn, *President* Ms Susie Byers, *Immediate Past President, University of Western Australia Student Guild*

Australasian Campus Union Managers Association

Ms Valda Jukums, *Acting President* Mr Thomas O'Sullivan, *Voluntary Student Unionism Spokesman and Coordinator*

Canberra, Thursday, 7 July 2005

Australian National University

Professor Ian Chubb, Vice Chancellor

Australian National University Students Association

Ms Aparna Rao, President

National Liaison Committee for International Students in Australia

Mr Aditya Tater, National Convenor

National Tertiary Education Union

Mr Ted Murphy, National Assistant Secretary
Ms Emma Cull, National Policy and Research Officer

Australian Vice-Chancellors Committee

Professor Peter Coaldrake, *Member* Mr Conor King, *Policy Director, Policy and Analysis*

National Union of Students

Mr Felix Eldridge, *National President* Mr Graham Hastings, *Research Coordinator*

Council of Australian Postgraduate Associations

Mr Stephen Horton, *President*Ms Sally Skinner, *Research Officer*

Department of Education, Science and Training

Mr Colin Walters, *Group Manager*, *Higher Education Group* Mr Rod Manns, *Branch Manager*, *Funding and Student Support Branch*, *Higher Education Group*

Tabled documents

Hearing: Melbourne, Monday, 4 July 2005
Monash University Gippsland Student Union

Joint Monash Press Conference documents dated Thursday, 24 March 2005

- Media Release Students and staff fight to stop voluntary student unionism
- Statement from the Student Unions of Monash University and the Administration of Monash University
- MONSU Peninsula Fact Sheet, dated 24 March 2005
- The Activities of the Monash Student Association

Hearing: Armidale, Tuesday, 5 July 2005 Australian University Sport

NU Sport Handbook 2005

NU Sport publication titled The CARB

Document - The real facts on sport and the VSU legislation

Letter – VSU legislation

Hearing: Canberra, Thursday, 7 July 2005 Senator Mitch Fifield

Return to the Australian Electoral Commission from the National Union of Students Inc. for the period 31 August 2004 to 9 October 2004.

Answers to questions on notice and additional information

Hearing: Melbourne, Monday, 5 July 2005

Deakin University Students' Association

La Trobe University, Dr Kerry Ferguson

Hearing: Armidale, Tuesday, 5 July 2005

University of New England Sport

University of New England, Professor Ingrid Moses

Australian University Sport

Hearing: Perth, Wednesday, 6 July 2005

Murdoch University Guild of Students

Hearing: Canberra, Thursday, 7 July 2005

Australian National University Students' Association

Additional information

Hearing: Armidale, Tuesday, 5 July 2005

University of New England Students' Association

Special purpose financial report for the year 2004

List of club grants given for 1 January 2004 - 30 June 2005

University of New England Union

University of New England Union club and board grants 2004

Hearing: Canberra, Thursday, 6 July 2005

National Union of Students

List of references requested at the hearing

Australasian Campus Union Managers' Association

Number of student employees affected by the proposed legislation